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before the iowa WORKERS’ COMPENSATION commissioner

___________________________________________________________________



  :

RUSVETA ISLAMOVIC,
  :



  :


Claimant,
  :          
File No.  5030842


  :

vs.

  :



  :      

      A P P E A L 

BISHOP DRUMM CARE CENTER,
  :



  :                      D E C I S I O N


Employer,
  :



  :        

and

  :



  :

ALTERNATIVE INSURANCE 
  :

MANAGEMENT SERVICES,
  :



  :


Insurance Carrier,
  : Head Note Nos.: 1108, 1108.20, 1402.40,

Defendants.
  :  
                 1804, 2204, 3001, 4000.20
___________________________________________________________________


This is an appeal by claimant, Rusveta Islamovic, from an arbitration decision filed on April 21, 2011, in which the presiding deputy commissioner found that claimant failed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that she sustained an injury as alleged on January 28, 2009.  The presiding deputy found that claimant had failed to prove a physical injury occurred on January 28, 2009 and therefore determined that claimant’s alleged psychological condition, as a sequelae of the alleged physical injury, must be denied.  As a result of these threshold findings the presiding deputy commissioner did not rule upon the remainder of the issues presented at the arbitration hearing.   


It is noted that the presiding deputy commissioner provided a comprehensive overview of the medical and other evidence.  It is further noted that the voluminous record was well-organized by the parties with only minimal duplication of exhibits.  The record, including the transcript of the hearing and all exhibits admitted into the record, has been reviewed de novo on appeal.  Under a de novo review, the evidence is considered anew.  Therefore, while the findings of the presiding deputy commissioner may have support within the factual record it is not improper to make alternate findings if such findings are also supported by a preponderance of the evidence in the factual record.  This distinction is important to note in this case as the presiding deputy specifically commented upon several unsettling aspects within the facts in reaching his finding.  

ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Whether the presiding deputy commissioner erred in finding that claimant failed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that she sustained a physical injury as a result of her alleged workplace fall on January 28, 2009.

II. Whether the presiding deputy commissioner erred in failing to find that claimant sustained a mental sequelae resulting from her alleged workplace fall on January 28, 2009.

III. Whether claimant has sustained a permanent and industrial disability.

IV. Whether claimant has sustained a temporary disability

V. Claimant’s average weekly wage and corresponding weekly compensation rate.

VI. Whether a penalty should be assessed against defendants for a violation of Iowa Code section 86.13.  

FINDINGS OF FACT


Claimant, Rusveta Islamovic, was born on April 26, 1963 in Bosnia and was 47 years of age on the date of the arbitration hearing in this matter.  Claimant immigrated to the United States in 1999 with her only son, resulting from the tragic war in Bosnia wherein claimant’s husband went missing and is presumed to be deceased.  (Transcript page 82; Exhibit 35; Ex. M)  Claimant’s primary language appears to be Bosnian, yet claimant has clearly acquired some use of the English language as she was able to communicate with her former coworkers at Bishop Drumm Care Center.  At the hearing in this matter and during most medical evaluations and appointments claimant required the use of an interpreter to translate for her.  In an employment performance evaluation for 2008 defendant-employer told claimant to strive to improve her English and communication with residents and coworkers.  (Ex. 29, p. 260; Tr., p. 80)  Claimant frequently noted in her responses to evaluations that she wished to improve her English skills.    

 
Defendant-employer, Bishop Drumm Care Center, is a retirement care center located in Johnston, Iowa and it is affiliated with Mercy Medical Center.


Claimant’s education consists of 12 years of school in Bosnia with the final two years focused on vocational training with six months specifically learning the craft of shoemaking.  Claimant has not taken ESL classes, but has learned English through her work.  (Ex. 14, p. 80)  Claimant had 12 years of employment in a shoe factory in Bosnia before the factory was lost to war.  Claimant then came to the United States with her son.  


After arriving in Iowa, claimant obtained employment with the Dahl’s supermarket chain where she worked in the kitchen from October 1999 to March 2000.  At Dahl’s, claimant worked in the kitchen washing dishes and making salads.  (Tr., p. 83)  Claimant left her employment with Dahl’s for employment in the food court at Merle Hay Mall from March 2000 to January 2001.  In the food court claimant was responsible for cleaning.  (Tr., p. 84)  Claimant left her employment with Merle Hay Mall and immediately commenced her employment at Bishop Drumm.  (Tr., p. 84)  Claimant was an employee at Bishop Drumm for approximately nine years prior to her alleged injury on January 28, 2009.  Her job description noted that her position was a heavy labor position.  (Ex. 29, p. 251)  During the time of her employment claimant obtained her CNA certification and was a productive, valued employee – evaluations note that she provides excellent, kind, and considerate care; works many extra shifts to help take care of residents; loves working with the elderly people and spending time with them; is flexible and very helpful and a great member of BDRC team.  (Ex. 29; Tr., p. 84)  


At Bishop Drumm claimant was responsible for caring for the center’s elderly residents.  This required her to bathe them, transport them from beds to chairs and from their rooms to where they would eat, and also feed them.  (Tr., p. 85)  Claimant worked significant hours each week in order to earn overtime, frequently working over 70 hours per week up until her alleged fall on January 28, 2009.  (Tr., pp. 85-86)  Claimant received positive performance evaluations and testified that she enjoyed this work and helping the residents.  (Tr., p. 86)  

 
Claimant testified that she fell while at work on January 28, 2009 while assisting a coworker in moving a patient from a bed to a chair.  Claimant testified that while moving the patient she tripped due to the cord of a call light and she fell to the floor hitting her head on the concrete floor and then blacking out.  (Tr., p. 87)  It is not disputed that on January 28, 2009 claimant was transported to Mercy Medical Center where she remained in-patient for the next five days.  An incident report completed the day of the alleged fall reports that the incident was witnessed by Gayla LaFleur CNA, but notes that LaFleur did not see her actually fall.  (Exhibit 1, page 1)  It is also noted that 911 was called and that claimant complained of pain to her head, neck, low back, left shoulder, and also complained of vertigo.  In other handwriting it is noted under miscellaneous that claimant had back pain, was unconscious, had neck pain, and was unable to move her left shoulder.  On a second incident report completed by Deb Williams it is noted that claimant sustained abrasions/contusions and notes a closed head injury.  (Ex. 1, p. 2)  On a diagram next to the notation of abrasions/contusions there are X’s placed on the area of the head of a human form.  The details of the incident of this report state that the incident occurred while claimant was assisting a patient, tripped over cord, and fell down hitting head – no loss of consciousness.  It is noted on the report and in testimony that claimant was transported from the care center to the hospital by ambulance.  (Tr., p. 115)  A handwritten first report of injury form completed by Deb Williams (disability coordinator) on January 29, 2009, describes the injury to claimant as contusion to head – neck/back strain.  Claimant testified that during her five days in the hospital following her alleged injury that she had nausea, was throwing up, and was on an IV.  (Tr., p. 88)

 
In a report from Mercy Medical Center on January 29, 2009, it was noted that claimant fell when helping a patient and she tripped over a cart and fell down on her back on the floor.  (Ex. 2, p. 12)  Claimant was noted to have hit her head when she fell, but claimant denied loss of consciousness.  Claimant denied having any visual problems.  In a physical therapy note of January 30, 2009, it is noted that claimant reported severe dizziness and inability to ambulate.  (Ex. 2, p. 10)  In the discharge summary from Mercy Medical Center on February 3, 2009, claimant is diagnosed with acute head injury from fall.  However, an MRI of the brain noted nothing acute.  The MRI of the lumbar spine evinced multi disk bulging.  At the time of discharge claimant was complaining of severe neck pain and back pain.  (Ex. 2, p. 14)  Claimant was discharged to home by Chandan Mitra, M.D., with a return to work in seven days.  (Ex. 2, p. 15)  Thereafter it appears that claimant was referred by Maureen Allen to an alternate care provider at Mercy Workman’s Compensation.  (Tr., p. 45)

 
Claimant was evaluated at Mercy Workman’s Compensation by William Vandivier, D.O., on February 9, 2009.  Dr. Vandivier noted claimant was seen for reevaluation due to dizziness and total body pain – upon complaints that she is nauseous and throwing up.  (Ex. 3, p. 16)  Claimant reported that she feels like she has to vomit all the time whenever she turns her head or stands up and that when she looks up with her eyes that she feels like she is going to fall over.  Dr. Vandivier noted that claimant remains stiff during the evaluation and that she is able to look at him and the interpreter without retching, but that upon cranial nerve testing that she had difficulty looking around the room and could not stand for her face to be touched.  Claimant returned the following day (February 10, 2009) noting difficulty understanding how to take her medications and complaining of dizziness and extreme nausea.  (Ex. 3, p. 17)  The doctor noted that although a prior CT scan had not shown permanent damage that there may be a concussion syndrome that could be driving some of this dizziness and nausea.  Claimant was allowed to return to work in a sit-down job for two weeks.


On February 25, 2009, there is a notation on an Employee Health Services note by a coworker of claimant with the coworker’s observation of claimant and the manner in which she walked.  The coworker believed that claimant ambulated quicker before being seen than after being seen.  (Ex. I, p. 1)  Other notes of observations of claimant both at work and outside of work were maintained in defendant-employer’s records from early in the claim.   

 
On February 25, 2009, claimant was evaluated by Jo Ellen Heims, D.O., at Mercy Workman’s Compensation where claimant noted that physical therapy was helping a little bit and that because her medications were making her sick that she is not really taking much of them.  Dr. Heims returned claimant to work on March 2, 2009, with restrictions of ten pounds lifting, pushing, and pulling.  (Ex. 3, p. 18)  On March 24, 2009, Dr. Heims reported that claimant was able to work okay with her restrictions and that claimant was frustrated with her slow improvement.  It was noted that at that time claimant was not reporting headaches.  (Ex. 3, p. 20)  On April 21, 2009, it was noted that claimant’s neck and shoulder strain was improving and that claimant was returned to regular employment with no restrictions.  (Ex. 3, p. 22)

 
Claimant was evaluated by Michael R.J. Jacoby, M.D., at Mercy Clinics for a neurological evaluation.  Responding to a letter purportedly dated February 16, 2009 from Kathy Price, claims coordinator, Dr. Jacoby noted that his diagnosis was myofascial pain involving the neck and left upper extremity and that there is a relationship between the event in January and her current symptomology.  (Ex. 4, p. 23)  Dr. Jacoby further noted that claimant required vestibular exercises for dizziness and that he believes that she suffers with pain.  Curiously, Dr. Jacoby was asked less than three weeks after the alleged fall and hospitalization whether claimant was seeking secondary gain – Dr. Jacoby replied:

I do believe she suffers with pain.  I do believe she has had some myofascial injury; however, I think that there is perhaps some guarding and possibly a somatoform component.  I am not in the position to make comment on secondary gain.  

I do not know of any preexisting conditions.  

Ms. Islamovic has already returned to work.  I think that it will be difficult in the immediate future in her current state for her to perform activities of regular work, although I encouraged her to try and progress as well as she can through physical therapy and engaging in exercises as [sic] home, as likely prescribed by the therapist.  I would recommend against lifting patients at this time.  Perhaps there are other duties that she can perform.  I am hopeful that as the weeks progress, she will be able to increase in activity and return to full functioning.  

(Ex. 4, p. 23)                         

 
On March 11, 2009, claimant was seen by a physician assistant at Mercy Clinics Neurology Clinic, Danielle Harvey, PA-C.  It was noted that claimant had a CT scan of her head which was normal but that an MRI of the brain found a possible medial right orbit hemangioma or lymphangioma, but otherwise was normal with no acute intracranial pathology noted.  (Ex. 4, p. 25)  The physician assistant recorded that claimant had continued neck and arm pain and that an orthopedic consult was recommended; that claimant had head trauma with associated daily headaches; macroscopic structural neuropathic injury; and dizziness.  (Ex. 4, p. 26)  At the next evaluation on April 24, 2009, it was noted that claimant stated that while her dizziness and nausea had resolved that she continued to have cervical and thoracic discomfort, left shoulder and left arm discomfort, and continued daily headaches.  She denied any new onset of nausea, vomiting, photophobia, or phonophobia.  (Ex. 4, p. 27)  On June 4, 2009, claimant was noted to be tearful in her presentation as she continues to experience a chronic, daily headache.  (Ex. 4, p. 28a)  The physician assistant noted that several medications have been utilized without success to treat claimant’s headache.  Claimant noted some nausea initially with the medication and was continued on promethazine for her complaints of nausea.  Claimant underwent an infusion of IV saline and Reglan for nausea and Toradol for headache pain.  (Ex. 4, p. 29)  Claimant did note improvement following the infusion.  However, the physician assistant did note that although claimant’s dizziness had improved at the last visit, the dizziness had returned associated with tinnitus and hearing loss.  


At the request of Dr. Vandivier claimant participated in physical therapy at Des Moines Physical Therapy.  Claimant reported that she continues to experience dizziness with “anything I do” and that she had returned to light duty assisting residents with eating.  (Ex. 20, p. 119)  Claimant informed the therapist that she is “tired of hurting” and that she is looking forward to returning to work full time.  Claimant also noted at a prior therapy session that she wanted to get better.  (Ex. 20, p. 118)  Claimant was noted to display extreme facial grimacing and inconsistent physical activities which was attributed to pain behavior.  (Ex. 20, p. 123)

 
Claimant was seen for orthopedic issues at Iowa Orthopedic Center, with physician assistant Michael Clark and supervising physician Scott A. Meyer on May 11, 2009.  The history notes that claimant fell backwards at work onto her back and striking her head and shoulder resulting in a loss of consciousness.  (Ex. 5, p. 31)  Her current symptoms were noted to be in her left shoulder and upper extremity, stating it is like electricity up and down.  Claimant noted frustration with her continued pain.  Due to claimant’s left shoulder and neck pain an MRI of the left shoulder was recommended.  On June 1, 2009, claimant continued to have left shoulder girdle area pain.  Dr. Meyer noted that she probably does have a mild degree of stiffness, he was unsure of her facial grimacing, but noted that maybe this is just how she responds to pain.  (Ex. D, p. 1)  On July 6, 2009, claimant was noted to have a frozen shoulder as she arrived holding her arm in almost a sling position.  (Ex. D, p. 2)    Claimant was instructed to try to move her shoulder.  The September 11, 2009 report from Iowa Orthopedic Center notes that she has had an MRI of the shoulder which is mostly unremarkable with maybe mild tendonopathy.  (Ex. 5, p. 34)  The diagnosis provided was frozen shoulder, with an option provided for manipulation under anesthesia and possible arthroscopic releases.  Claimant consented to the surgery, but authorization was denied.  In a letter reply dated December 16, 2009, Dr. Meyer agreed that he did not recommend surgery pending a review of neuropsychological evaluation.  (Ex. D, p. 7)  The note of September 24, 2009 finds that she had an EMG/nerve conduction study done in June by Dr. Rivera which showed minimal changes consistent with carpal tunnel.  At this appointment claimant was released to return to work without restrictions, return only as needed.  (Ex. D, p. 5)  Dr. Meyers agreed with the opinion set forth by defendants’ counsel that he could not causally connect claimant’s then symptoms to her January 28, 2009 work injury “since the etiology for Ms. Islamovic’s complaints is unknown and her subjective complaints are extreme, non-specific to the shoulder, and out of proportion to physical findings.”  (Ex. D, p. 7)

 
The Employer Health Service notes report that claimant’s medications were making her sick and throw up, such that she needed different medications.  (Ex. I, p. 4)  The notes also report that claimant was stating that defendant-employer should guarantee her a job position and that she should not have to find her own position.  


Due to complaints of dizziness claimant was evaluated at Mercy Ear, Nose, & Throat Center by Corey W. Mineck, M.D., on August 10, 2009.  Claimant was noted to have difficulty with balance and she noted a tumbling and whirling sensation which lasts 20-30 seconds.  (Ex. 6, p. 36)  Dr. Mineck also noted a history of nauseousness and vomiting as well as accompanying buzzing.  Upon neurologic examination it was noted that patient was unable to lay flat secondary to a sense of dizziness and claimant complained of significant neck and shoulder pain during her recline.  (Ex. 6, p. 37)  Dr. Mineck noted that her symptomatology is consistent with BPPV (benign paroxysmal positional vertigo) which would be quite natural following a blow to the head.  Upon the next evaluation on November 23, 2009, it was noted that claimant continued to have significant dizziness post fall and that she was unable to complete vestibular rehab due to inability to tolerate the rehab.  (Ex. 6, p. 39)  It was reported that claimant continued to feel markedly imbalanced and that any rapid head movement causes significant discomfort.  Dr. Mineck noted that she did have an ENG which demonstrated some mild spontaneous nystagmus in a center position without visual fixation. 


Defendants referred claimant for a psychiatric evaluation with C. Scott Jennisch, M.D., Board Certified Adult Psychiatrist, on September 4, 2009.  In a report dated September 7, 2009, Dr. Jennisch reports that he believes that malingering needs to be strongly suggested in this case as there is the strong suggestion of symptom exaggeration in the setting of injuries sustained from her fall on January 28, 2009.  (Ex. A, p. 3)  He further notes that it is less likely that she has continued cognitive deficits related to a post concussive syndrome, but would defer to his neuropsychology colleagues.  While he noted that her psychiatric differential also includes the diagnosis of pain disorder with physical and psychological symptoms, that the medical legal context of her presentation and the medical record more strongly suggest the diagnosis of malingering.  Dr. Jennisch opined that claimant’s prognosis for recovery was increasingly poor.  In conclusion Dr. Jennisch opined that a review of her record indicates a strong possibility of symptom magnification from a physical injury perspective and additionally that her report of cognitive disability post injury is highly suspicious for symptom magnification.  (Ex. A, p. 4)  

 
Defendants also referred claimant for a neuropsychological evaluation with Jim Andrikopoulos, Ph.D., Board Certified in Clinical Neuropsychology, on December 22, 2009.  (Ex. B)  In a report of January 22, 2010, Dr. Andrikopoulos reported on his opinions following clinical testing and questioning of claimant with the assistance of an interpreter.  It was noted that the severity of the cognitive deficits as outlined in the Cognitive Testing section of the report are in excess of what would be expected in a case of a mild concussion and in addition, claimant failed two tests to assess for malingered memory function.  (Ex. B., p. 1)  Dr. Andrikopoulos notes that before discussing claimant’s cognitive impairment he must comment on the alleged head injury – noting there were no witnesses to the fall and no physical evidence that she had a head injury.  He further notes, where there is documented physical injury that is compensable, factitious symptoms are rarely found in the first few days after the injury.  It is after some period of time, as the litigation wears on, when the unexplained / factitious symptoms appear.  (Ex. B., p. 2)  This reasoning is continued later in his report when he comments that most concussive symptoms are reported early following an injury when they are most troubling – in this case the patient was assessed for cognitive difficulties almost a year after the injury after which the symptoms should have resolved rather than just begin [sic].  The report contains Dr. Andrikopoulos’ opinions as to the interplay of medico-legal claims where litigation causes the development of new symptoms – he notes, the decision to sue may occur to someone at some later point after the accident … they are now left with the difficult circumstances of having to complain of symptoms, in the context of litigation, that they had not reported before.  (Ex. B, p. 5)  The doctor then specifically notes that “in addition to memory, tremor, hallucinations, vomiting, and changes in smell, to name a few symptoms, that she reports now that are not reflected in the medical record.  (Ex. B, p. 5)  The doctor opines that the essence of this case reveals that this patient does not fit the natural course seen in the recovery from mild head injury and the post-concussive symptoms that result.  He notes that physically, cognitively, and psychologically over 85 percent of such patients return back to premorbid levels of functioning in a few weeks … clinical lore has it that the remaining 15 percent of the cases have a complicated recovery.  (Ex. B, p. 7)  He notes that amongst the factors that play a role in 15 percent are premorbid personality factors as well as litigation.  (Ex. B, p. 8)  Dr. Andrikopoulos’ opinions regarding litigation and its affects are pervasive within the report.  His ultimate opinion is that claimant is malingering and that therefore no further treatment is necessary.  (Ex. B, p. 13)  Because of his opinion he does not find that claimant has limitations in social and occupational functioning.  


Claimant sought treatment with Ian Lin, M.D., at Des Moines Orthopaedic Surgeons, P.C., due to her continued orthopedic complaints and upon a referral from Dr. Ketcham.  Dr. Lin first evaluated claimant on January 6, 2010 and noted that she had been prepared to undergo manipulation of her shoulder with Dr. Scott Meyer on December 24, 2009, but that this was cancelled by the carrier.  (Ex. 8, p. 45)  Dr. Lin noted that claimant was obviously in pain, very tearful, and very frustrated.  At the time of this evaluation claimant was on short-term disability leave from Bishop Drumm.  Dr. Lin noted that his evaluation of her left shoulder made her cry and that upon x-ray he noted some definite rotator cuff tendonopathy and possible left shoulder rotator cuff tear.  He stated that he did not see why this is not a work-related condition – he notes, she injured her shoulder and her head and had a closed head injury at the time of her injury in January … this was Workman’s Comp all the way through this past year and then it was cancelled at the last minute for unknown reasons.  (Ex. 8, p. 46)  Dr. Lin did note that he was a bit confused as to the severity of her pain.


On January 18, 2010, Dr. Lin noted that the arthrogram of the left shoulder was negative and that the x-ray of her neck has some degenerative disc disease at C5-6 with maybe a tiny bit of retrolisthesis of C5 on C6 but otherwise it looks OK.  An injection of the shoulder was provided, but claimant still did not move her shoulder very much.  (Ex. 8, p. 47)  On March 1, 2010, claimant reported to Dr. Lin that the injection of her shoulder worked great for two weeks, but then she couldn’t move her arm.  Dr. Lin believed that her complaints may be originating in her cervical spine.  Following a cervical spine MRI, Dr. Lin noted on March 22, 2010 that the MRI shows she has degenerative disc disease throughout the cervical spine but she has more impressive area at C5-6 with narrowing of the left C5-6 foramen, it does look like it does compress on the left C6 nerve root.  (Ex. 8, p. 48)  Dr. Lin informed her that she should seek a referral from her family physician, Tiffany Ketcham, D.O., for a Mercy pain management doctor.         

Claimant was treated by Matthew C. Biggerstaff, D.O., and Clinton L. Harris, M.D., at Pain Specialists of Iowa.  Claimant treated for pain in her lumbosacral spine and her neck.  Claimant underwent a series of cervical epidural steroid injections under fluoroscopic guidance with some level of recordable improvement.  (Ex. 13, pp. 71-78)

 
On January 22, 2010, Ron J. Pick, D.O., reported a second fall – this time when claimant was coming out of the bathroom at her home – where she got lightheaded and dizzy and hit her head on either the wall or the floor.  (Ex. 7, p. 41)  It was noted that she lost consciousness in this fall.  Claimant started vomiting while she was in Dr. Pick’s clinic.  In follow up at the same clinic, claimant was evaluated by Tiffany Ketcham, D.O., on February 25, 2010.  In addition to orthopedic pain complaints, Dr. Ketcham reported that claimant continues to have headaches, dizziness, and nausea which was being addressed by Dr. Jacoby who had prescribed Cymbalta and Nabumetone.  (Ex. 7, p. 43)  Dr. Ketcham further determined that claimant was experiencing posttraumatic stress, anxiety, and depression and made a referral to a Dr. Horvath.         

 
Upon referral by her family physician, claimant was evaluated at the Pine Rest Mental Health clinic by a licensed independent social worker, Scott Kloberdanz, commencing on March 11, 2010.  (Ex. 12, p. 54; Tr. p. 103)  Also at Pine Rest Mental Health, claimant was evaluated by Matthew T. Horvath, D.O., a board certified psychiatrist.  In his treating notes of May 24, 2010, Dr. Horvath diagnoses major depression and anxiety disorder NOS resulting from multiple chronic medical problems including chronic back pain issues.  Dr. Horvath estimated her current GAF to be roughly 50.  (Ex. 12, p. 62)  


Claimant was evaluated by a physiatrist, Jeffrey Pederson, D.O., who filed a report on May 3, 2010.  He notes that claimant had neck and low back pain and left arm pain going on since January 2009 when she had a fall and then reaggravated her pain after a fall on January 28, 2010.  (Ex. K, p. 1)  Claimant was noted to ask several times during the appointment if surgery would help to correct her discomfort.  (Ex. K, p. 3)  Dr. Pederson noted that claimant’s pain complaints and limited participation made it difficult to determine exactly to what extent the left shoulder is causing her discomfort versus the cervical spine.  

 
Claimant was referred by her legal counsel to Eva Christiansen, Ph.D., for a psychological evaluation on July 9, 2010.  Claimant reported that before falling at work that she had no physical problems and that she was very energetic, very healthy, and was working two shifts to have overtime earnings.  (Ex. 14, p. 81)  Claimant noted that she was as strong as a horse and now she can hardly walk.  Dr. Christiansen made the following observations in her evaluation:

Mrs. Islamovic’s current mental status includes a moderate to severe major depressive disorder which began shortly after her fall in January of 2009.  It is a problem to apply the American based DSM diagnostic code to people such as Mrs. Islamovic who were not raised in the United States, particularly regarding somatic complaints and depression.  Refugees who suffer stresses or physical injuries with a mental health component such as depression most often describe their problems in somatic terms, with the most common complaints involving headaches, insomnia, general aches and pains, heart palpitations, fatigue and dizziness.  These symptoms do not indicate the presence of malingering.  They are in many cultures the defining symptoms for a diagnosis of depression, although not listed as such by the DSM-IV TR.

Mrs. Islamovic was sensitized to the issue of credibility soon after her fall.  She was bewildered by the reactions of the health care system and the employer to her pain, and humiliated by questions about dishonesty.  Her communication with any health or mental professional now is likely to include defensiveness, presenting information or behaving in the way she believes will support her account of being injured.  Her communication therefore does include symptom magnification.  She is overly guarded about most effortful physical activities and may be particularly hyper-vigilant in further contacts with unfamiliar health or mental health professionals.  

Her self-reported history is not consistent with a somatization disorder.  She does not report the kinds of family issues that would be typical of, for example, a factitious disorder, where symptom magnification is deliberately produced for non-material gain.  She did go through the traumatic events of the war in Bosnia and finds discussion of those years painful.  There can be delayed-onset PSTD [sic] symptoms that are activated by later physical injury, but that does not appear to be the case for her.  Rather, she has been a woman who had been a long-term factory worker who coped well with the challenges of being a refugee, resettling in a foreign country, and finding employment here, until she had a painful, work-related fall.  The consequences of that fall have led to what should be diagnosed as a major depressive disorder, with symptoms that are entirely consistent with a non-American cultural background.  

(Ex. 14, p. 83)  

Dr. Christiansen denied that claimant’s actions did not imply secondary gain and further noted that there is nothing in her history to suggest the kinds of personality disorder traits that are often found in people who malinger.  (Ex. 14, p. 84)  Her GAF score was noted to be 50, which reflects interference from her mental health condition, depression, severe enough to make successful competitive employment highly unlikely.  Dr. Christiansen opined that claimant’s major depressive disorder is causally related to the workplace incident of January 28, 2009 and that claimant would be unable to return to work as a CNA and claimant cannot be expected to return to her baseline mental health functioning that she possessed prior to January 28, 2009 in the foreseeable future.  (Ex. 14, p. 85) 


Claimant’s counsel also referred her to an independent medical examination with Jacqueline M. Stoken, D.O., which occurred on August 16, 2010.  Dr. Stoken prepared a report containing her opinions on August 20, 2010.  (Ex. 18, p. 98)   Dr. Stoken reported claimant’s current status as follows:

Currently she complains of pain in her head that she describes as aching, throbbing, gnawing, and intermittent.  It ranges from 4-8/10.  It averages 6-7/10.  Right now it is 8/10.  What makes it better are rest and medicine.  What makes it worse are noise when bending and moving too quickly.  

She complains of pain in her back that she describes as aching, throbbing, shooting, stabbing, sharp, burning, exhausting, continuous, miserable, and unbearable.  It is always a 10/10.  What makes it better is pain medication which helps a little bit.  What makes the pain worse are walking, standing, and sitting.  

She complains of pain in her left shoulder that she describes as shooting and stabbing.  It ranges from 8-10/10.  It averages 8-10/10.  Right now it is 9/10.  What makes it better is medicine.  What makes it worse is lifting.

She complains of pain in her neck that she describes as stabbing, sharp, and continuous.  It ranges from 6-9/10.  It averages 7-8/10.  Right now it is 9/10.  What makes it better is hydrocodone.  What makes it worse is being in the same position.  

She states that the physical therapy and cervical epidural did not help the pain at all.  The medication and low back epidural helped the pain moderately.  She states that the pain completely interferes with everything in her life, including activity, mood, walking ability, work routine, relationships, sleep, enjoyment of life, concentration, and moderately with her appetite.  

(Ex. 18, pp. 106-107)  

At the time of this evaluation with Dr. Stoken claimant was on Cymbalta 15 mg two tablets per day, Gabapentin 300 mg tid, Lipitor 20 mg, Amitriptyline 25 mg at hs, Lorazepam 0.5 mg daily, Cyclobenzaprine one table three times a day, Zolpidem 10 mg at hs, and Hydrocodone 5/500 two bid.  

 
Dr. Stoken made the following diagnoses:  status post work injury on January 28, 2009 with acute cervical, thoracic and lumbar strain with herniated disc, left sacroiliac joint dysfunction, closed head injury and left shoulder strain; post traumatic headaches and vertigo; chronic neck and low back pain and left sacroiliac joint dysfunction; major depression secondary to work injury.  (Ex. 18, p. 108)  

 
Utilizing the AMA Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, Fifth Edition, Dr. Stoken found neck impairment of eight percent of the whole person due to the cervical injury, chronic neck pain, and headaches; 30 percent impairment of the whole person for claimant’s vestibular dysfunction (including recurrent headaches, dizziness, and nausea which Dr. Stoken noted claimant did not previously suffer prior to January 28, 2009); 13 percent impairment of the whole person for the left shoulder injury; eight percent impairment of the whole person for the lumbar spine injury and sacroiliac joint dysfunction; and also found moderate impairment relating to the psychological condition.  (Ex. 18, pp. 108-111)  As to the psychological condition, Dr. Stoken agreed with the opinion of Dr. Christiansen relating to the cause of claimant’s condition.  Dr. Stoken found claimant’s report of pain to be credible and found her consistent in her evaluation noting that she does not exhibit evidence of secondary gain as she states she would like to return to her job – rather finding that she has definite physical findings on examinations that can be associated with her injuries and are consistent with her injuries.            


Following evaluations with Dr. Christiansen and Dr. Andrikopoulos, Dr. Jennisch was presented with both reports and asked by defendants’ counsel to provide further opinions.  In reply Dr. Jennisch opined that after review of these files he felt more strongly that the appropriate clinical diagnosis is malingering.  He commented that the extreme nature of her complaint, the repeated problems documented by clinicians and claimed disability seem to far exceed the possibility of some embellishment for the purpose of credibility.  (Ex. A., p. 8)  Dr. Jennisch notes that he is aware of the literature Dr. Christiansen refers to indicating that different cultures may present with more somatic symptoms of depression.  However, he commented that having a somatic focus in the setting of clinical depression is very different than claimant’s presentation.  (Ex. A., p. 9)


Claimant sought disability benefits from the Social Security Administration on the basis of both physical and mental impairments.  In a mental residual functional capacity assessment Philip Laughlin, Ph.D., opined that claimant’s mental impairment is severe based upon the impairment findings and symptoms and the consistency of the file.  (Ex. 17, p. 97)  He noted that the preponderance of the evidence in the file is consistent with claimant’s allegations of impairment and that her allegations are credible.  He further noted that at this time and for the foreseeable future the claimant is not able to engage in even very simple one and two step processes over a sustained period of time.     

 
On October 9, 2010, Dr. Horvath provided his written opinions regarding his psychiatric opinions upon evaluation of claimant and upon review of various other psychiatric and medical records.  (Ex. 15)  Dr. Horvath opined that claimant’s injury on January 29, 2009 [sic] coupled with her continuing pain was a substantial or contributing factor in the development of her current mental impairments and limitations and that she is not able to return to the competitive workforce at this time.  (Ex. 15, p. 86a)  Dr. Horvath further opined that while it is possible that claimant may be malingering, that based on his evaluations of her and the fact that she had a history of working at Bishop Drum [sic] for eight years before the injury, it is not likely that she is malingering.  (Ex. 15, p. 86)  

 
Following the arbitration hearing defendants were allowed to depose Matthew Horvath, D.O., regarding his opinion on the psychiatric portion of this claim.  He noted that he had evaluated claimant five times, including his initial assessment.  (Ex. S, p. 3)  Dr. Horvath confirmed the DSM IV definition of malingering.  (Ex. S, p. 14)  He denied that claimant had any life patterns or red flags indicating that she would be malingering in this present matter.  (Ex. S, p. 36)  He notes that someone who has a long history of reliable, successful performance at a job – and years of satisfaction in that job position – would not be one who would be expected to be the type of person predisposed to malingering.  (Ex. S, pp. 63, 67)  Dr. Horvath acknowledged that claimant’s neuropsychological testing might have some inconsistencies, (Ex. S, p. 48) but noted he had other Bosnian clients who have also suffered from major depression and physical pain and have also had strong somatic focus.  (Ex. S, p. 50)  He further notes that if a patient’s belief that a medical care provider or other individual directing his or her care does not believe there was an injury may result in the patient being overly-defensive, guarded, tense, anxious, intimidated, and distrustful.  (Ex. S, p. 60)  Dr. Horvath is concerned with Dr. Jennisch’s findings as Dr. Jennisch has not seen claimant in a treatment setting.  (Ex. S, p. 52)  Dr. Horvath did not change his opinions regarding claimant’s psychiatric condition upon review of the opinions of Dr. Andrikopoulos and Dr. Jennisch.  (Ex. S, p. 72)  He confirmed his opinion that she is suffering from major depression and anxiety and is not malingering.  (Ex. S, p. 73)         

 
Claimant testified that prior to her alleged fall that she was able to drive, but since that date she has not driven due to concerns of dizziness.  (Tr., p. 96)  She testified that her head hurts constantly and whenever she moves her head she gets dizzy.  (Tr., p. 106)  She has taken medications for her dizziness, but she quit taking them because they made her throw up a lot.  


Maureen Allen, a former workers’ compensation nurse and R.N. for Mercy, testified at hearing.  (Tr., p. 30)  Ms. Allen is presently employed with a new employer, Safeworks of Iowa.  Ms. Allen testified that she is not certain whether claimant actually fell on January 28, 2009.  (Tr., p. 43)  Ms. Allen was not employed by Mercy on the date that claimant’s injury was formally denied.  (Tr., p. 44)  Ms. Allen did not see claimant in the hospital and therefore was unwilling to opine as to whether claimant was faking her injuries when in the hospital for a period of five days.  (Tr., p. 50)  Ms. Allen admitted that she may have informed claimant that she would lose her [workers’ compensation] benefits if she wasn’t following the doctor’s orders.  (Tr., p. 51)  Ms. Allen testified that there were times that claimant would seem worse than other times and that claimant was seen looking injured in the office, but moving differently outside of the office.  (Tr., p. 60)  Ms. Allen however also agreed that it is not completely unexpected for somebody who has pain issue to have a variation in symptomology from day to day.  (Tr., p. 77)  Regardless, none of those other asserted witnesses Ms. Allen mentioned testified at the arbitration hearing.  Ms. Allen testified that light duty employment made available at Mercy was activities such as wiping the pillows or wiping down railings in the hallways.  (Tr., p. 72) 


Claimant’s tax statements are included in the record.  Claimant’s 2007 W-2 form sets forth earnings of $57,516.61.  (Ex. 26, p. 239)  Claimant’s 2008 earnings were $73,394.45.  (Ex. 26, p. 240)  Subsequent to her injury claimant’s taxable earnings were limited to $16,801.00.  (Ex. 26, p. 241)  Claimant’s employment with Mercy was terminated on July 31, 2010, although claimant’s light duty employment had ended previously.  (Ex. 33; Tr., p. 39)  Claimant never worked overtime hours following the date of her alleged fall while she returned in a light duty work status.  (Tr., p. 95)  Claimant receives approximately $1,016.00 per month in disability payments from Social Security.  (Tr., p. 109)  Claimant gave up her apartment and lives with her son and also has given up her vehicle.  (Tr., p. 109)


The gross earnings and rate calculations of both parties are contained in the record and are clearly presented by both parties for ease of review by the division.  (Ex. 23)  Claimant has also concisely organized her out-of-pocket medical costs for which she seeks reimbursement.  (Ex. 25)

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW


The first issue for consideration on appeal is whether claimant sustained a fall at work on January 28, 2009 that resulted in a physical injury.  

 
The party who would suffer loss if an issue were not established has the burden of proving that issue by a preponderance of the evidence.  Iowa R. App. P. 6.14(6).

The claimant has the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that the alleged injury actually occurred and that it both arose out of and in the course of the employment.  Quaker Oats Co. v. Ciha, 552 N.W.2d 143 (Iowa 1996); Miedema v. Dial Corp., 551 N.W.2d 309 (Iowa 1996).  The words “arising out of” referred to the cause or source of the injury.  The words “in the course of” refer to the time, place, and circumstances of the injury.  2800 Corp. v. Fernandez, 528 N.W.2d 124 (Iowa 1995).  An injury arises out of the employment when a causal relationship exists between the injury and the employment.  Miedema, 551 N.W.2d 309.  The injury must be a rational consequence of a hazard connected with the employment and not merely incidental to the employment.  Koehler Electric v. Wills, 608 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2000); Miedema, 551 N.W.2d 309.  An injury occurs “in the course of” employment when it happens within a period of employment at a place where the employee reasonably may be when performing employment duties and while the employee is fulfilling those duties or doing an activity incidental to them.  Ciha, 552 N.W.2d 143.

A personal injury contemplated by the workers’ compensation law means an injury, the impairment of health or a disease resulting from an injury which comes about, not through the natural building up and tearing down of the human body, but because of trauma.  The injury must be something that acts extraneously to the natural processes of nature and thereby impairs the health, interrupts or otherwise destroys or damages a part or all of the body.  Although many injuries have a traumatic onset, there is no requirement for a special incident or an unusual occurrence.  Injuries which result from cumulative trauma are compensable.  Increased disability from a prior injury, even if brought about by further work, does not constitute a new injury, however.  St. Luke’s Hosp. v. Gray, 604 N.W.2d 646 (Iowa 2000); Ellingson v. Fleetguard, Inc., 599 N.W.2d 440 (Iowa 1999); Dunlavey v. Economy Fire and Cas. Co., 526 N.W.2d 845 (Iowa 1995); McKeever Custom Cabinets v. Smith, 379 N.W.2d 368 (Iowa 1985).  An occupational disease covered by chapter 85A is specifically excluded from the definition of personal injury.  Iowa Code section 85.61(4) (b); Iowa Code section 85A.8; Iowa Code section 85A.14.

The presiding deputy commissioner found that claimant had failed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that an incident on January 28, 2009 had resulted in a physical injury as alleged.  

The evidence establishes that claimant did sustain a fall at work while transferring a resident from a bed to a chair as alleged on January 28, 2009.  As a result of that fall claimant fell backwards onto the floor and hit her head, left shoulder, and the backside of her body with sufficient force to result in abrasions and contusions to the back of her head as denoted on the report of Deb Williams and in the contemporaneous medical records.  The fall resulted in claimant likely losing consciousness for a short time although that record is not as certain.  Regardless, claimant was transported by ambulance to Mercy hospital due to the severity of her injuries on January 28, 2009 where she remained for a period of five days due to a closed head injury, notable pain, and other complaints – particularly dizziness and nausea.  There is no other logical explanation for claimant’s documented head abrasions and contusions or her extended hospital stay due to vestibular and other problems including neck, left shoulder, and back pain.  It is clearly supported by a preponderance of the evidence that following January 28, 2009 that claimant’s physical condition was impacted such that she was unable to return to full duty employment at any time.

It is therefore concluded that claimant has proven by a preponderance of the evidence that she sustained a fall on January 28, 2009 that arose out of and occurred in the course of her employment duties which resulted in a physical injuries including a vestibular injury as well as an injury to her neck, back, and left shoulder.  Various medical opinions, including those of Dr. Stoken, support that these injuries have resulted in permanent impairment.
As the presiding deputy found that claimant had not sufficiently proven that she sustained a physical injury due to the fall on January 28, 2009, no finding was made as to whether claimant sustained a mental sequelae resulting from her fall.  Therefore, the next issue for consideration on appeal is whether claimant has proven by a preponderance of the evidence that she sustained a mental injury resulting from her traumatic injury which occurred on January 28, 2009.  

There is obviously significant conflict between the parties as to whether claimant has sustained a mental disability or, alternatively, whether claimant is a worker engaging in malingering for the purpose of secondary gain.  The belief that claimant was not honest in her claim of injury was clearly held by defendant-employer and its insurance carrier very early on in the course of this claim at a time when claimant had returned to light duty employment.  Claimant’s counsel asserts that this early questioning of claimant resulted in an adversarial relationship to develop in which claimant became hyper-vigilant in her interactions with medical professionals she no longer trusted.  Claimant further asserts that claimant was a very dedicated employee and that the record establishes that claimant was concerned with being able to have an employment position with defendant-employer following her injury.  In the incident reports it was noted by defendant-employer that the fall was not witnessed by claimant’s coworker.  In the days after claimant returned to light-duty work there were reports placed in the workers’ compensation file noting observations of claimant’s functional abilities and facial expressions.  And most directly by Kathy Prince who asked Dr. Jacoby on February 16, 2009 whether claimant was seeking secondary gain from her January 28, 2009 fall.  

The opinions of the various experts who have been asked to opine as to whether claimant has a mental injury are split.  The assertion that claimant is malingering for secondary gain is supported primarily by Dr. Jennisch and Dr. Andrikopoulos.  Both Dr. Jennisch and Dr. Andrikopoulos are well-known to the division for their involvement in contested cases.  Dr. Jennisch’s opinions are frequently found persuasive and well-supported by this division and he appears to work equally on behalf of injured workers and employers/insurance carriers.  His opinions are detailed, thorough, and well-documented.  Dr. Andrikopoulos is also well-known to the division, but his work on behalf of employers/insurance carriers is considered predictable and has long been considered less convincing – as aptly noted within the record.  Claimant presents the opinions of Dr. Eva Christiansen, Dr. Laughlin, Dr. Horvath, and LISW Scott Kloberdanz.  Only Dr. Christiansen is known to the division and her opinions are frequently found persuasive and well-supported, but it must be mentioned that her work is primarily on behalf of claimants seeking workers’ compensation benefits.    

When considering the experts’ opinions it is important to appraise the foundational findings of the various opinions set forth in the record.  As it relates to the opinion of Dr. Andrikopoulos, that record is noted to be significantly flawed.  Dr. Andrikopoulos denies that there was any physical evidence of a head injury.  That is incorrect as claimant was noted to have abrasions and contusions following the event on January 28, 2009.  Further, claimant has been diagnosed with a closed-head injury and remained hospitalized for five days following the fall due to complaints associated with a closed-head injury.  Dr. Andrikopoulos further reports that claimant was reporting new systems nearly a year after her fall due to the interplay of her medico-legal claims.  That is also incorrect.  The medical records establish that immediately following her fall claimant had symptoms consistent with a closed-head injury including vomiting, dizziness, amongst several others.  Claimant was also noted to have difficulty in understanding her medication regiment.  Those symptoms were not new or made up at the time of the evaluation by Dr. Andrikopoulos.  There is no support for the findings or opinion of Dr. Andrikopoulos in the medical history of this matter.  It is concluded that the opinion of Dr. Andrikopoulos lacks sufficient foundation for serious consideration.  The opinion of Dr. Jennisch, that claimant was malingering and does not have a mental injury, was provided prior to the opinion of Dr. Andrikopoulos.  Dr. Jennisch does state that he felt more strongly that his opinion was consistent with the opinion of Dr. Andrikopoulos than the opinion of Dr. Christiansen.  It is not apparent that Dr. Jennisch was provided with the opinions of Dr. Laughlin or Dr. Horvath and therefore it is unknown if those opinions which are consistent with Dr. Christiansen would have altered the opinion of Dr. Jennisch.  Dr. Jennisch did comment upon whether cultural factors may result in more somatic symptoms of depression – his opinion is that claimant’s presentation is very different from what somatic systems he would expect.  Dr. Jennisch’s opinion as to the somatic symptoms is noted to conflict with that of Dr. Christiansen and Dr. Horvath.  While Dr. Jennisch presents a credible opinion, his opinion conflicts with all of the other credible reports which are all found to be consistent with the underlying medical records.  It is therefore concluded that claimant has sustained a mental injury as a sequelae of her physical injury of January 28, 2009.  While claimant’s presentation has been noted to be extreme, it is noted that claimant had sufficient mental functioning to work in a productive manner in the competitive labor market on a full time basis prior to January 28, 2009 and that she subsequently cannot perform such work. 

Claimant has provided an itemization of medical costs associated with her physical and mental work injuries.  That itemization is contained in Exhibit 25.  Claimant is entitled pursuant to Iowa Code section 85.27 to reimbursement for those medical costs that she has paid and all other medical costs asserted are the liability of defendants.                  

The next issue for consideration on appeal is whether claimant has sustained permanent disability as a result of her work injuries.  

The claimant has the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that the injury is a proximate cause of the disability on which the claim is based.  A cause is proximate if it is a substantial factor in bringing about the result; it need not be the only cause.  A preponderance of the evidence exists when the causal connection is probable rather than merely possible.  George A. Hormel & Co. v. Jordan, 569 N.W.2d 148 (Iowa 1997); Frye v. Smith-Doyle Contractors, 569 N.W.2d 154 (Iowa App. 1997); Sanchez v. Blue Bird Midwest, 554 N.W.2d 283 (Iowa App. 1996).

The question of causal connection is essentially within the domain of expert testimony.  The expert medical evidence must be considered with all other evidence introduced bearing on the causal connection between the injury and the disability.  Supportive lay testimony may be used to buttress the expert testimony and, therefore, is also relevant and material to the causation question.  The weight to be given to an expert opinion is determined by the finder of fact and may be affected by the accuracy of the facts the expert relied upon as well as other surrounding circumstances.  The expert opinion may be accepted or rejected, in whole or in part.  St. Luke’s Hosp. v. Gray, 604 N.W.2d 646 (Iowa 2000); IBP, Inc. v. Harpole, 621 N.W.2d 410 (Iowa 2001); Dunlavey v. Economy Fire and Cas. Co., 526 N.W.2d 845 (Iowa 1995).  Miller v. Lauridsen Foods, Inc., 525 N.W.2d 417 (Iowa 1994).  Unrebutted expert medical testimony cannot be summarily rejected.  Poula v. Siouxland Wall & Ceiling, Inc., 516 N.W.2d 910 (Iowa App. 1994).

 It has previously been concluded that claimant sustained a vestibular injury and injuries to her neck, left shoulder, and back resulting from her fall on January 28, 2009.  The vestibular injury appears to be the most impairing condition.  The medical evidence supports that claimant has sustained a 30 percent whole person impairment due to the vestibular dysfunction.  Claimant also has impairment of eight percent of the whole person for her neck injury, 13 percent of the whole person for the left shoulder injury, and eight percent of the whole person for the back injury.  These impairments and resulting restrictions impair and preclude claimant from a return to any competitive employment.  It is further concluded that claimant has moderate to severe permanent impairment resulting from her mental health diagnoses.  Claimant’s mental health condition further restricts claimant from a return to any competitive employment at this time.  

 
The parties agreed that if the injury was found to be a cause of permanent impairment to the body as a whole, the resulting disability would be a nonscheduled loss of use.  Consequently, this agency must measure claimant’s loss of earning capacity as a result of such impairment.

 
Industrial disability was defined in Diederich v. Tri-City R. Co., 219 Iowa 587, 258 N.W.2d 899 (1935) as follows: "It is therefore plain that the legislature intended the term 'disability' to mean 'industrial disability' or loss of earning capacity and not a mere 'functional disability' to be computed in the terms of percentages of the total physical and mental ability of a normal man."   Functional impairment is an element to be considered in determining industrial disability which is the reduction of earning capacity, but consideration must also be given to the injured employee's age, education, qualifications, experience, motivation, loss of earnings, severity and situs of the injury, work restrictions, inability to engage in employment for which the employee is fitted and the employer's offer of work or failure to so offer.  McSpadden v. Big Ben Coal Co., 288 N.W.2d 181 (Iowa 1980); Olson v. Goodyear Service Stores, 255 Iowa 1112, 125 N.W.2d 251 (1963); Barton v. Nevada Poultry Co., 253 Iowa 285, 110 N.W.2d 660 (1961).

 
Total disability does not mean a state of absolute helplessness.  Permanent total disability occurs where the injury wholly disables the employee from performing work that the employee's experience, training, education, intelligence, and physical capacities would otherwise permit the employee to perform.  See McSpadden v. Big Ben Coal Co., 288 N.W.2d 181 (Iowa 1980); Diederich v. Tri-City R. Co., 219 Iowa 587, 258 N.W. 899 (1935).

 
A finding that claimant could perform some work despite claimant's physical and educational limitations does not foreclose a finding of permanent total disability, however.  See Chamberlin v. Ralston Purina, File No. 661698 (App. October 1987); Eastman v. Westway Trading Corp., II Iowa Industrial Commissioner Report 134 (App. May 1982).

 
Claimant is a 47 year old worker with a limited education obtained outside of the United States.  Claimant has only a nominal ability to communicate in the English language.  She can no longer drive.  Her vocational history establishes that claimant was a reliable worker who performed physically challenging work for over a decade prior to her work injury in this matter.  Claimant has sustained significant permanent impairment and is physically and mentally precluded from presently performing employment duties.  It is concluded that claimant has sustained a permanent and total disability as a result of her fall on January 28, 2009.  Claimant is entitled to permanent and total disability benefits commencing on January 28, 2009.  Defendants are entitled to a credit for prior payments.


 The next issue for consideration is claimant’s average weekly wage and corresponding weekly compensation rate.  

 
“The compensation to be received by an injured employee is based on ‘weekly earnings’ at the time of injury.”  Hartman v. Clarke County Homemakers, 520 N.W.2d 323, 327 (Iowa App. 1994).  Weekly earnings are defined in Iowa Code section 85.36 as:


     … gross salary, wages, or earnings of an employee to which such employee would have been entitled had the employee worked the customary hours for the full pay period in which the employee was injured, as regularly required by the employee’s employer for the work or employment for which the employee was employed.


Iowa Code section 85.36.  In order to accommodate a variety of employment scenarios, section 85.36 goes on to provide several methods to calculate an employee’s weekly earnings.  

 
In this matter there is not significant dispute over the manner in which the wages are to be calculated.  Rather, the dispute centers on the representative weeks to be included in the weekly earnings when calculating the average weekly wage pursuant to Iowa Code section 85.36(6).  The evidence contained within the record is that prior to January 28, 2009 claimant worked considerable overtime hours and for 2008 claimant had taxable earnings of $73,394.45, or over $1,400.00 per week on average including overtime payments.  The dispute is whether claimant’s average weekly wage should be calculated by excluding two pay periods from December 7, 2008 through January 3, 2009 – periods which did include holidays.  Those two pay periods are significantly less than other pay periods included in the rate calculation.  It is concluded that claimant’s average weekly wage is $979.35.  As claimant is single and entitled to one exemption claimant’s weekly compensation rate is $570.04.      

 
The final issue for consideration on appeal is whether a penalty should be assessed against defendants for a violation of Iowa Code section 86.13.  Claimant asserts that a penalty should be assessed against defendants for failure to provide a reasonable basis for the denial of payment of benefits subsequent to November 17, 2009.  Defendants assert that all benefits reasonably owed to claimant were paid to her including during her periods of light duty employment.  Defendants further note that because they were successful in the arbitration decision that they clearly had a good faith basis to deny claimant benefit payments for all periods subsequent to November 17, 2009.  

 
In Christensen v. Snap-on Tools Corp., 554 N.W.2d 254 (Iowa 1996), and Robbennolt v. Snap-on Tools Corp., 555 N.W.2d 229 (Iowa 1996), the supreme court said:

Based on the plain language of section 86.13, we hold an employee is entitled to penalty benefits if there has been a delay in payment unless the employer proves a reasonable cause or excuse.  A reasonable cause or excuse exists if either (1) the delay was necessary for the insurer to investigate the claim or (2) the employer had a reasonable basis to contest the employee’s entitlement to benefits.  A “reasonable basis” for denial of the claim exists if the claim is “fairly debatable.”

Christensen, 554 N.W.2d at 260.

The supreme court has stated:


(1) If the employer has a reason for the delay and conveys that reason to the employee contemporaneously with the beginning of the delay, no penalty will be imposed if the reason is of such character that a reasonable fact-finder could conclude that it is a "reasonable or probable cause or excuse" under Iowa Code section 86.13.  In that case, we will defer to the decision of the commissioner.  See Christensen, 554 N.W.2d at 260 (substantial evidence found to support commissioner’s finding of legitimate reason for delay pending receipt of medical report); Robbennolt, 555 N.W.2d at 236.


(2) If no reason is given for the delay or if the “reason” is not one that a reasonable fact-finder could accept, we will hold that no such cause or excuse exists and remand to the commissioner for the sole purpose of assessing penalties under section 86.13.  See Christensen, 554 N.W.2d at 261.


(3) Reasonable causes or excuses include (a) a delay for the employer to investigate the claim, Christensen, 554 N.W.2d at 260; Kiesecker v. Webster City Meats, Inc., 528 N.W.2d at 109, 111 (Iowa 1995); or (b) the employer had a reasonable basis to contest the claim(the “fairly debatable” basis for delay.  See Christensen, 554 N.W.2d at 260 (holding two-month delay to obtain employer’s own medical report reasonable under the circumstances). 


(4) For the purpose of applying section 86.13, the benefits that are underpaid as well as late-paid benefits are subject to penalties, unless the employer establishes reasonable and probable cause or excuse.  Robbennolt, 555 N.W.2d at 237 (underpayment resulting from application of wrong wage base; in absence of excuse, commissioner required to apply penalty).

   If we were to construe [section 86.13] to permit the avoidance of penalty if any amount of compensation benefits are paid, the purpose of the penalty statute would be frustrated.  For these reasons, we conclude section 86.13 is applicable when payment of compensation is not timely . . . or when the full amount of compensation is not paid.

Id.

(5) For purposes of determining whether there has been a delay, payments are “made” when (a) the check addressed to a claimant is mailed (Robbennolt, 555 N.W.2d at 236; Kiesecker, 528 N.W.2d at 112), or (b) the check is delivered personally to the claimant by the employer or its workers’ compensation insurer.  Robbennolt, 555 N.W.2d at 235.  


(6) In determining the amount of penalty, the commissioner is to consider factors such as the length of the delay, the number of delays, the information available to the employer regarding the employee’s injury and wages, and the employer’s past record of penalties.  Robbennolt, 555 N.W.2d at 238.


(7) An employer’s bare assertion that a claim is “fairly debatable” does not make it so.  A fair reading of Christensen and Robbennolt, makes it clear that the employer must assert facts upon which the commissioner could reasonably find that the claim was “fairly debatable.”  See Christensen, 554 N.W.2d at 260.

Meyers v. Holiday Express Corp., 557 N.W.2d 502 (Iowa 1996).  

 
Weekly compensation payments are due at the end of the compensation week.  Robbennolt, 555 N.W.2d 229, 235.

 
Penalty is not imposed for delayed interest payments.  Davidson v. Bruce, 594 N.W.2d 833, 840 (Iowa App. 1999).  Schadendorf v. Snap-On Tools Corp., 757 N.W.2d 330, 338 (Iowa 2008).  

 
When an employee’s claim for benefits is fairly debatable based on a good faith dispute over the employee’s factual or legal entitlement to benefits, an award of penalty benefits is not appropriate under the statute.  Whether the issue was fairly debatable turns on whether there was a disputed factual dispute that, if resolved in favor of the employer, would have supported the employer's denial of compensability.  Gilbert v. USF Holland, Inc., 637 N.W.2d 194 (Iowa 2001).

 It is concluded that defendants have sufficiently established a good faith basis upon which they could deny claimant further benefits subsequent to November 17, 2009.  While it was not determined in this appeal decision that claimant failed to sustain a work injury on January 28, 2009, defendants had sufficient evidence, which was provided to claimant, to have a reasonable belief that no further disability benefits should be paid.  Therefore no penalty shall be assessed pursuant to Iowa Code section 86.13.
ORDER


IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that the arbitration decision is REVERSED and that:
 
Defendants shall pay claimant permanent total disability benefits commencing January 28, 2009 at the weekly rate of five hundred seventy and 04/100 dollars ($570.04) for as long as claimant remains permanently and totally disabled.

Defendants are awarded a credit for benefits previously paid to claimant during the period of her permanent total disability.

 
Accrued benefits shall be paid in lump sum together with interest pursuant to Iowa Code section 85.30 with subsequent reports of injury pursuant to rule 876 IAC 3.1.

Defendants shall pay claimant’s medical expenses pursuant to Iowa Code section 85.27 as set forth herein.

Defendants shall pay the costs of this matter and of the appeal, including the preparation of the hearing transcript.

Signed and filed this 11th day of June, 2012.
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